FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/1/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97395-4

No. 74512-3-I

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

SANDRA L. FERGUSON and THE FERGUSON FIRM, PLLC,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID, BRIAN J. WAID and JANE DOE WAID

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Amended RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION ONE

Sandra L. Ferguson Respondent, Pro Se 600 First Avenue Pioneer Building Seattle, WA 98104

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/1/2019 119:21 AM

C. Issues Presented for Review

Did the Court of Appeals err when it considered Waid's appeal of the trial court's denial of summary judgment on his account stated claim?

Does the doctrine of res judicata preclude an attorney from filing a lien for attorney's fees in his client's case, extensively litigating the validity of his lien, then when his client sues him for malpractice and Consumer Protection Act claims, bringing his fee claim against as counterclaims in that action?

Can granting summary judgment in favor of an attorney on an account stated theory be proper where the client alleges that the attorney engaged in unfair or false and deceptive acts or practices in order to charge, bill, or collect fees, or to continue to retain the client? Can the question of assent be decided on a summary judgment where there are genuine disputes of material facts as to the malpractice and CPA claims?

D. Statement of the Case

Ferguson seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision reversing the trial court's finding that res judicata precludes Waid from litigating his claim for attorney's fees in this case because he already litigated his fee-claim in Ferguson v. Teller, 11-2-19221-5 SEA. Ferguson also seeks discretionary

review of the Court of Appeals decision reversing the trial court's denial of Waid's motion for summary judgment and remanding for entry of judgment against Ferguson for \$50,000 based on account stated. The date the Court of Appeals decision was entered or filed is: April 15, 2019. Petitioner filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on May 7, 2019.

Ferguson consulted Waid on April 5, 2011 because she suspected that her former co-counsel, Stephen Teller, was defrauding her former clients (the Endres plaintiffs) and her, so that he could receive a windfall profit without advancing the costs for three experts' work, as he promised the clients he would do. Waid advised Ferguson to file a Notice of Lien for Attorney's Fees in Endres v. Safeway, 10-2-06166-5 SEA--which she did. On May 4, 2011, Ferguson and Waid executed a contract for legal services. On May 10, 2011, Waid filed a Limited Notice of Appearance in Endres v. Safeway ("the Endres case"). Waid's conduct after that, gave rise to this lawsuit against Waid (Ferguson v. Waid, 14-2-29265-1 SEA). Waid sought dismissal of the lawsuit without prejudice on December 1, 2015 and his request was granted. Ferguson re-filed her malpractice and CPA claims against Waid the same day and a new case schedule was issued under a new cause number (i.e., Ferguson v. Waid 15-2-28797-5 SEA). Waid filed this appeal from the first-filed action. Waid requested and obtained a stay of the second-filed action pending resolution of his appeal. The Court of Appeals issued an opinion on April 15, 2019. As a result of that opinion, Ferguson is free to continue to trial with her claims against Waid for malpractice and CPA violations. However, Ferguson is hereby seeking discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decisions reversing the trial court's order granting Ferguson's motion for summary judgment of Waid's counterclaims for fees based on res judicata and reversing the trial court's order denying Waid's motion for summary judgment on his account stated claim for \$50,000 because there are genuine disputes of fact that must be resolved, therefore, summary judgment on Waid's account stated claim would not be proper.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted

Court of Appeals Decision is Inconsistent with this Court's Decisions on res judicata..

The Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with its holding in Karlberg v. Otten and and Ensley v. Pitcher, which both state that the relitigation of a claim "that [was] litigated, or could have been litigated, in a prior action" are barred. Karlberg v. Otten, 167 Wn. App. 522, 535, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012); Ensley v. Pitcher, 152 Wn. App. 891, 899, 222 P.3d 99 (2009). As a result, the Court of Appeals decision in this matter is inconsistent with at least two of its prior opinions on the same issue and furthermore, it appears that the decision in this case provides a special exception for attorneys to the doctrine of res judicata by allowing them to bring claims in two separate lawsuits, one for its lien and another for an account stated claim or breach of contract claim.

The Appellate Decision That Res Judicata Doctrine Does Not Preclude Respondent's Claim for Fees In This Case Conflicts with this Court's Decisions in Marino Property Co. v. Port Comm'rs of Seattle, 97 Wn.2d 307, 312, 644 P.2d 1181 (1982).

The Appellate Decision That Res Judicata Doctrine Does not Preclude Respondent's Claim for Fees In This Case Conflicts with Division One's Decision in Bunch v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 180 Wash. App. 37, 43-44, 321 P.3d 266 (2014).

Account Stated, Assent, Duress

RAO 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the

Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

(c) Content and Style of Petition. The petition for review should contain under appropriate headings and in the order here indicated:

The Court of Appeals imputed Ferguson's assent from her payments to Waid which occurred prior to January 2012. However, Ferguson argues that the record shows that payments she made were made under duress because she was without possession and control of her own money (\$265,000) which her attorney caused to be deposited and withheld from her during the entire time he represented her in the Endres v. Safeway and Ferguson v. Teller cases. Just as the period after January 2012 is subject to a dispute of material fact as to whether Ferguson objected to Waid's invoices within a reasonable period of time, so is there a dispute of material fact as to the period of time prior to January 2012, since Ferguson alleges she was under economic duress and coercion. Therefore, the Court of Appeals should not have placed itself in the role of factfinder with regard to any period of time during which Ferguson alleges she was deceived by her attorney or subject to duress for lack of possession of her \$265,000.

Given the totality of the circumstances in this case, Ferguson's payments to Waid prior to January 2012, are not a sufficient manifestation of assent by Ferguson. Ferguson made relatively small payments to

3

Waid from money that was never even in her possession, but was disbursed to Waid. This is not sufficient, under the circumstances, to show assent to Waid's bills through January 2012.

Any manifestation of asset is negated by evidence of economic duress. Ferguson's complaint contains allegations of Waid's unfair or false and deceptive acts or practices and ethical violations. Ferguson has consistently alleged that she was under duress because Waid failed to act on her behalf to obtain possession and control of her \$265,000 at the time sher to title to this property was not disputed by Teller (i.e., from April 28, 2011 to August 7, 2011 and from November 2, 2011 to February 9, 2012 when Teller file his Motion for CR 11 Sanctions which clouded Ferguson's clear title to the \$265,000 in the registry.

"Duress...means

Any wrongful act of one person that compels a manifestation of apparent assent by another to a transaction without his volition, or

Any wrongful threat of one person by words or other conduct that induces another to enter into a transaction under the influence of such fear as precludes him from exercising free will and judgment, if the threat was intended or should reasonably have been expected to operate as an inducement."

Undue influence is defined as follows:

Where one party is under the domination of another, or by virtue of the relation between them, is justified in assuming that the other party will not act in a manner inconsistent with his welfare, a transaction induced by unfair persuasion of the latter, is induced by undue influence and is voidable.

Pleuss v. Seattle, 504 P.2d 1191, 8 Wn.App. 133, 137-38 (Div. I, 1972) (citing Restatement of Contracts 492 (1932).

A dispute of fact exists as to whether Ferguson objected within a reasonable period of time. This dispute applies to the entire period of time, before and after January 2012, and to the entire sum of Waid's bills due to the alleged fraud or deception alleged by Ferguson.

Ferguson did object to Waid's fees as soon as she retained replacement counsel, John Muenster.

"How long a time is unreasonable is a question of fact to be answered in light of all the circumstances." See, p. 18, of Court of Appeals opinmion, citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts 282, cmt. B (1981).

The effect of the Court of Appeals Decision is to _____.

"The threshold requirement of res judicata is a final judgment on the merits in the prior suit. Once that threshold is met, res judicata requires sameness of subject matter, cause of action, people and parties, and 'the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made." Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp., 93 P.3d 108 (2004)(citing Rains v. State, 100 Wash.2d 660, 663, 674 P.2d 165 (1983)). "The general doctrine is that the plea of res judicata applies, except in special cases, not only to points upon which the court was actually required by the parties to form an opinion and pronounce a judgment, but to every point which properly belonged to the subject of litigation, and which the parties, exercising

reasonable diligence, might have brought forward at the time." Id. (citing Schoeman v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co., 106 Wash.2d 855, 859, 726 P.2d 1 (1986)(quoting Sayward v. Thayer, 9 Wash. 22, 24, 36 P. 966, 38 P. 137 (1894). But, res judicata does not bar claims arising out of different causes of action, and is not intended "to deny the litigant his or her day in court." Id. at 860, 726 P.2d 1.

"Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, bars relitigation of an issue in a subsequent proceeding involving the same parties. 14A Karl B. Tegland, WASHINGTON PRACTICE, Civil Procedure § 35.32, at 475 (1st ed.2003) (hereafter Tegland, Civil Procedure). It is distinguished from claim preclusion 'in that, instead of preventing a second assertion of the same claim or cause of action, it prevents a second litigation of issues between the parties, even though a different claim or cause of action is asserted." Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist., 96 P.3d 957 (2004)(quoting Rains v. State, 100 Wash.2d 660, 665, 674 P.2d 165 (1983).

"Collateral estoppel may be applied to preclude only those issues that have actually been litigated and necessarily and finally determined in the earlier proceeding. Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton, 109 Wash.2d 504, 507, 745 P.2d 858. Further, the party against whom the doctrine is asserted must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the earlier proceeding. Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc., 135 Wash.2d 255, 264-65, 956 P.2d 312 (1998). For collateral estoppel to apply, the party seeking application of the doctrine must establish that (1) the issue decided in the earlier proceeding was identical to the issue presented in the later proceeding, (2) the earlier proceeding ended in a judgment on the merits, (3) the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted was a party to, or in privity with a party to, the earlier proceeding, and (4) application of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice on the party against whom it is applied." Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist., 96 P.3d 957 (2004)(quoting Reninger v. Dept. of Corr., 134 Wash.2d at 449, 951 P.2d 782; State v. Williams, 132 Wash.2d 248, 254, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review of the decision of the court below.