FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/5/2019 3:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97395-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA FERGUSON and THE FERGUSON FIRM, PLLC,

Petitioners,

VS.

LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID, PLLC, et al,

Respondents.

PRO SE RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR LEAVE OF COURT TO FILE A MOTION FOR SECOND AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW, AND REQUEST FOR SANCTIONS PURSUANT TO RAP 1.1(d) AND RAP 18.9(a)

Brian J. Waid WSBA No. 26038 WAID LAW OFFICE, PLLC 5400 California Ave. S. W., Ste D Seattle, Washington 98136 Respondent/*Pro Se* Plaintiff-in-Counterclaim in Trial Court

I. Relief Requested

II. Identity of Respondent

Respondent Brian J. Waid was the defendant and plaintiff-in-counterclaim in the trial court, and the respondent/cross-appellant in the Court of Appeals.

III. Statement of the Case

Ms. Ferguson filed her Petition for Review on July 8, 2019 (the last possible date for filing). The Petition consisted of five (5) pages, single-spaced, and identified three issues for review: (1) whether the Court of Appeals should have considered Waid's appeal of the trial court

¹ This is actually Ferguson's *fourth* attempt at filing an Amended Petition for Review.

denial of summary judgment on his account stated cause of action; (2) whether *res judicata* precluded Waid's counterclaim for fees, and; (3) whether partial summary judgment is appropriate on an account stated cause of action when the former client has alleged contingent, unliquidated claims against the attorney. The original Petition for Review did not cite a specific section of RAP 13.4 that would warrant review.

On July 15, 2019, Respondent filed his Answer to Ferguson's original Petition for Review. The Answer asks for sanctions against because Ferguson's original Petition was frivolous and is [Ans. pp. 15-17]:

. . . replete with errors that include misspellings, odd spacing, violations of RAP 10.4(a),² and an incomplete sentence (p. 4) that reads "The effect of the Court of Appeals Decision is to
_______." Furthermore, the copy of the Petition for Review, at least as served on Respondent, also fails to include the Appendix required by RAP 13.4(c)(9) and, as of this writing, Petitioner has not paid the filing fee for the Petition for Review.

The next day, July 16, 2019, this Court's Clerk granted Ms.

Ferguson until July 24, 2019 in which to pay the filing fee for the Petition

² Ferguson's original Petition for Review also violates RAP 10.4(a)(2) in that it is not double-spaced, and RAP 13.4(c)(2) in that it does not include the Tables required by that Rule. Respondent cannot determine whether the Petition meets that Rule's margin and font requirements. The pages are not numbered. Ferguson is an experienced attorney who has appeared in this Court on many occasions. Her RAP 10.4(a) and RAP 13.4 violations provide further support for the conclusion that Ferguson filed the Petition to delay resolution of Respondent's counterclaims on remand to the trial court and to further her campaign of harassment against Respondent. Appendix, Ex. C at *9.

for Review³ *and* directed her to "add page numbers" to her original

Petition and re-file it. The Court Clerk did *not* grant Ms. Ferguson carte

blanche authority to file an entirely new petition.

On July 24, 2019, Ms. Ferguson filed a 50-page *first* "Amended Petition" which identifies the following issues presented for review:⁴
(1) "are the lower courts still bound by the *Ross* rule requiring them to narrowly construe the attorney-lien statute, regardless of the 2004 amendments?" and; (2) whether partial summary judgment is appropriate on an account stated cause of action when the former client has alleged contingent, unliquidated claims against the attorney.

Incredibly, overnight on July 24, 2019, Ferguson filed a *second* "Amended" Petition for Review, consisting of sixty-six (66) pages of text.⁵ This second "Amended" Petition for Review identified four (4) Issues Presented for Review.

On July 26, 2019 the Court rejected Ms. Ferguson's two

Amended Petitions for Review, noting that it had only authorized

³ Respondent is unaware whether Ms. Ferguson paid the filing fee on time.

Ms. Ferguson uses approximately a full page to identify each of the "Issues Presented for Review." Respondent has therefore tried to succinctly state the two issues purportedly presented; however, as stated the second issue is virtually indecipherable.
 Although the extent of revisions between Ferguson's 50-page first "Amended" Petition and her 66-page second "Amended" Petition are not readily identifiable, they do *not* appear limited to just correcting the erroneous margins contained in the first "Amended" Petition for Review

Ferguson to add page numbers and re-file the Petition.

On August 1, 2019, Ferguson re-filed her *original* Petition for Review, with page numbers, which consisted of five (5) pages of single-spaced text and omission of the Tables required by RAP 13.4(c)(2).

On August 5, 2019, Ferguson filed the current Motion, purporting to ask leave to file the "*Third* Amended Petition for Review attached to her Motion. This *Third* Amended Petition for Review raises only one issue for review relating to whether the validity of Respondent's attorney-fee lien—an issue which was decided in a prior appeal in a different case and for which this Court denied review in **2014.** 3rd Am. Petition, p. 4.

IV. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Should the Court deny Ferguson's Motion for leave to file a Third Amended Petition for Review, after Respondent has already answered Ferguson's Petition for Review, as unauthorized and untimely?

 Answer: Yes.
- 2. Should the Court impose sanctions against Petitioner, including monetary and non-monetary sanctions (to protect the Court and its staff as well as Respondent and other litigants), pursuant to RAP 18.9(a) and RAP 1.1(d), considering that her first and second "Amended" Petitions for Review were previously stricken, frivolous on multiple grounds, violate RAP 13.4 and RAP 10.4 in multiple respects, and (d)

were filed for the improper purposes of furthering Petitioner's campaign of harassment of Respondent,⁶ and to delay enforcement of the Division I mandate relative to Respondent's counterclaims? **Answer: Yes.**

IV. ARGUMENT

1. The Court Has Not Authorized Ferguson's First and Second "Amended" Petitions for Review, Both of Which Violate RAP 13.4(a) and 13.4(d)

RAP 1.2(a) provides that most of the Rules of Appellate Procedure be "liberally interpreted.....subject to the restrictions of rule 18.8(b)." Emphasis added). Thus, although RAP 18.8(a) allows the Court to extend time limitations, RAP 18.8(b) provides that "the appellate court will only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice extend the time within which a party must file. . . .a petition for review."

Here, Ms. Ferguson requests, in essence, a four-week extension of time, in which to file her *Third* Amended Petition for Review—*after* Respondent filed his Answer to her original Petition. Ferguson cites no extraordinary circumstances; she instead concedes that she "amended her petition to better inform the Court of the legal issues that are being decided by Division I. . ." Ferguson Mot., p. 4. Petitioner thus fails to

5

⁶ See, Ferguson v. Waid, 2019 WL 6040174 (W.D. Wash. 11/19/2018). Respondent's Appendix includes a copy of that Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

establish any "extraordinary circumstances" or gross miscarriage of justice that justify her failure to timely file her Petition in proper form. Indeed, if Ferguson is correct, then every Petitioner will feel entitled to file a skeletal Petition initially, wait for the Respondent to Answer, and then file a "corrected" or "amended" Petition weeks later.

Furthermore, on July 16, after Respondent had filed his Answer to Ferguson's original Petition for Review, the Court Clerk authorized Ms. Ferguson to number the pages of her original Petition for Review and refile it. The Court Clerk did not authorize her to file an entirely new Petition for Review. After Respondent answered the Petition for Review, Ms. Ferguson tried to file a 50-page Amended Petition for Review, followed hours later by a 66-page Second Amended Petition for Review. The Court rejected both "amended" Petitions for Review.

Ferguson's current motion seeks to effectively circumvent and nullify the RAP 13.4(a) requirement that Petitions for Review must be filed within 30 days. Furthermore, to allow an "amended" Petition for Review *after* the Respondent has filed the Answer to the Petition also circumvents and nullifies RAP 13.4(d) which does *not* allow a reply in support of a Petition for Review except to respond to *new* issues raised in the Answer to the Petition.

Ferguson's practice is also fundamentally unfair to Respondent

considering that he had properly filed his Answer to Ferguson's original Petition for Review. Significantly, Ms. Ferguson is an experienced attorney, who has frequently resorted to "amended" or "corrected" pleadings in this Court and the Court of Appeals. See, Respondent's Mot. to Strike Ferguson's Amended Pet. for Review, p. 7 n. 9.

2. The Court Should Sanction Ferguson for Her Abusive Procedural Practices.

RAP 18.9(a) authorizes an appellate court to impose terms or compensatory damages against a party who files a frivolous appeal. RAP 18.9(a) applies to the Petition for Review in this Court. RAP 1.1(d).

More specifically, the Federal Court found, after trial, that

Ms. Ferguson's attorney (Emily Sharp Rains) promised that Ferguson's
goal was "dragging Mr. Waid's name through the mud." Resp. Ans.,

Appendix C, p. 024 (FOF 37). Ferguson also told Respondent that he
"deserved to suffer" and "'this is not over, Brian.'" *Id.* (FOF 39).

Ferguson also posted "client reviews" on the internet, which the Federal
Court found to be untrue and defamatory. *Id.* at p. 025-028 (FOF 45-46;
COL 3-13). The Federal Court further found that "[o]ver the past four
years, Ms. Ferguson has engaged in a course of conduct specifically aimed
at harassing Mr. Waid." *Id.* at p. 027-028 (COL 14-21).

Although the Federal Court did not enjoin Ms. Ferguson from

filing the Petition for Review in this pending case, that does not prevent this Court from imposing sanctions against her for having filed a frivolous Petition for Review, followed by a patently improper 50-page *first* "Amended" Petition for Review, which she followed within hours with a 66-page *second* "Amended" Petition for Review.

Beyond its lack of merits, Ferguson's original Petition for Review was replete with errors. See, Resp. Ans., p. 16 and n. 11. Ferguson's *first* "Amended" Petition for Review similarly omitted the requisite Tables [RAP 13.4(c)(2)] and Appendix [RAP 13.4(c)(9). Both the *first* and *second* "Amended" Petitions for Review also argue at great length⁷ that Division I erred in *The Ferguson Firm v. Teller & Associates*, 178 Wn. App. 622, 316 P.3d 509 (2013). However, this Court denied review of *The Ferguson Firm v. Teller & Associates* in July 2014. Supreme Court case no. 90140-6.

Here, Ferguson's sole issue presented for review relates to that 2013 decision, in a completely separate case, which has been final for approximately five (5) *years*. Accordingly, Ferguson's assignment of error to, and her extended discussion of, that purported issue is therefore

⁷ Ferguson asserts that Division I erred in its 2013 decision as the *first* "Issue Presented for Review" in both her first and second "Amended" Petitions for Review. See further, *e.g.*, pp. 1-4 of Ferguson's second "Amended" Petition.

completely irrelevant to this appeal and frivolous.⁸

VI. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Respondent requests that deny Petitioner's

Motion for Leave of Court to File a Motion for Second Amended Petition
for Review." Ferguson's conduct in this Court requires severe sanctions.

In addition to monetary sanctions, Respondent suggests that the Court
consider non-monetary sanctions in the form a vexatious litigant (or
similar such) designation to protect not only Respondent and other
litigants, but to protect this Court and its staff from similar abusive
conduct by Ms. Ferguson in the future.